2007

Weststar Exploration Company v. Cochrane Resources, INC. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under Utah Code section 78-2a-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This case involves Newfield Rocky Mountains, Inc.; Cochrane Resources, Inc.; P&M Petroleum Management, LLC; and QEP Uinta Basin, Inc.’s (collectively “Newfield”) unauthorized use of four miles of a natural gas pipeline and easement, located in Uintah County, Utah. (R. 371.) Weststar Exploration Company filed a complaint against Newfield alleging trespass and unjust enrichment. The district court entered summary judgment against Weststar after concluding that Weststar had not produced any evidence of ownership in the pipeline and (implicitly) ruling that a mere possessory interest is insufficient to maintain trespass and unjust enrichment claims.

Issue 1: Whether a possessory interest in a pipeline is sufficient to confer standing to maintain trespass and unjust enrichment claims for unauthorized use of the pipeline.

This issue was preserved at R. 901: 34-35.

Standard of Review: “Determinations of the legal requirements for standing are reviewed for correctness.” Jones v. Barlow, 2007 UT 20, ¶10, 154 P.3d 808. In addition, when reviewing the granting of a motion for summary judgment the court views all fact “in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Emergency Physicians Integrated Care v. Salt Lake Cty., 2007 UT 72, ¶8, 167 P.3d 1080.

Issue 2: Whether a person’s affidavit testimony that he transferred property to a company, coupled with documents confirming the transfer, is sufficient to create a disputed issue of fact concerning whether the company currently has an ownership interest in the property. This issue was preserved at R. 410-11.

Standard of Review: “When reviewing a ruling on summary judgment, the court gives no deference to the lower court’s legal conclusions and reviews the issues presented under a correctness standard. Factual disputes are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Emergency Physicians Integrated Care v. Salt Lake Cty., 2007 UT 72, ¶8, 167 P.3d 1080.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Summary Judgment “shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

On February 9, 2005, Weststar filed a complaint against Newfield Rocky Mountains, Inc.; Cochrane Resources, Inc.; P&M Petroleum Management, LLC; and QEP Uinta Basin, Inc. (collectively “Newfield”) alleging trespass and unjust enrichment.¹ (R. 12.) In April 2006, Newfield filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. 182, 198, 202, 277, 282, 286, 289, 339, 352, 357.) On August 22, 2006, the district court granted Newfield’s motion for summary judgment and dismissed Weststar’s claims “as a matter of law and with prejudice, on the grounds that [Weststar] has produced to the court no evidence of ownership of the pipeline in question.” (R. 539.5.)²

¹ Weststar agreed to dismiss other claims for eviction and preliminary injunction. (R. 410, 901: 4.) Weststar also seeks attorney fees.

² The page between 539 and 540 where this quote is located is not numbered.

On September 28, 2006, Weststar filed a motion to reconsider. (R. 670.) The district court denied Weststar's motion and stated that Weststar should appeal. (R. 835.) The district court also stated that William Gilmore's affidavit testimony and Mr. Gilmore's written assignment of ownership from himself to Weststar was insufficient evidence to establish a genuine issue of material fact concerning whether Weststar has an ownership interest in the pipeline. (R. 835.)

The district court subsequently certified as final its order granting summary judgment pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b). (R. 888.) Weststar appeals from the district court's summary judgment order.

II. Statement of Facts

A. Weststar's Interest in the Pipeline

On November 5, 1990, Mr. Gilmore, on behalf of Bonanza Gas Company, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Gilmore Oil & Gas, Inc. (a sole proprietorship) applied with the Department of the Interior Bureau of Land Management for a right-of-way to construct the pipeline at issue in this case. (R. 589.) The BLM is the fee owner of North Bonanza field, and on February 14, 1991, it granted Bonanza "a right to construct, operate, maintain, and terminate" a natural gas pipeline in that area. (R. 597-98.) As Mr. Gilmore testified, he was the sole owner of Bonanza when it obtained the easement and constructed the pipeline in North Bonanza field. (R. 371, 814.)

Bonanza assigned its ownership and easement in the pipeline to Mr. Gilmore.³ (R. 371.) On January 1, 2000, Mr. Gilmore assigned all rights he had, including ownership

³ In the district court, Newfield focused on the lack of evidence that Bonanza passed its interest to Mr. Gilmore. The best evidence that Mr. Gilmore had an interest from Bonanza to pass on to Weststar is the BLM's determination that Weststar is 100% owner of the pipeline. (R. 628.) To the extent there is any remaining question regarding

and easement in the pipeline, to Weststar, a company formed in 2000 and of which Mr. Gilmore is the sole officer, director, and owner. (R. 223-228, 371, 362-65.) This assignment was recorded with the BLM on March 13, 2006. (R. 579.) The BLM considers Weststar 100% owner of the pipeline. (R. 628.)

In the recorded assignment, Mr. Gilmore assigned to Weststar:

- “All Rights of Way, Easements, Surface Fees, Surface Leases, Servitudes and Franchises, insofar as they pertain to the Leases and the wells located on the Leases.” (R. 364.)
- “All permits and licenses of any nature owned, held or operated by Assignor in connection with the Leases, Lands and the wells located on the leases.” (R. 364.)
- “All pumps, casing, rods, tubing, wellhead equipment, separators, heater treaters, tanks, pipelines, gathering lines, flowlines, valves, fittings and all other surface and down hole equipment, fixtures related inventory, gathering and treating facilities, personal property and equipment used in connection with the Leases and the wells located on the Leases and all other interests described above.” (R. 363 (emphasis added).)

An exhibit to the assignment lists the sections and acreages conveyed. (R. 362.) The described scope of the conveyance in the assignment confirms that the pipeline at issue in this case was conveyed to Weststar, especially when compared with the BLM Case Recordation Report of Weststar’s predecessor Bonanza’s right of way application and the rental payment history for the pipeline. (R. 601-630.)⁴

Bonanza Gas Company assigning its interest to Mr. Gilmore, Mr. Gilmore unquestionably became the owner of the pipeline when Bonanza dissolved in 1998 because under Texas law all of its assets automatically would have reverted to Mr. Gilmore as its sole shareholder. Courseview, Inc. v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 312 S.W.2d 197, 203 (Tex. 1957); see also Humble Oil & Refining Co. v. Blankenburg, 235 S.W.2d 891, 893 (Tex. 1951) (“When a corporation is dissolved its property becomes the property of its stockholders in proportion to their respective shares.”). (R. 371, 479, 581-84, 814.)

⁴ See also (i) BLM Right-Of-Way Grant for the Pipeline dated February 14, 1991 and signed by Bill Gilmore on behalf of Bonanza, (ii) Bonanza’s amended application letter

Mr. Gilmore also testified that other entities hold interests in the pipeline.⁵ First, Mr. Gilmore testified that Ted Collins and Herbert E. Ware each hold an 8.33 percent interest in the pipeline stemming from a 1988 operating agreement with Gilmore Oil & Gas, Bonanza's parent company.⁶ (R. 333-34, 430.) The interests held by six other parties pursuant to the 1988 operating agreement were acquired by Mr. Gilmore prior to the commencement of this action. (R. 332-34, 901: 35, 423-453.) Further, Houston Exploration currently owns a fifty percent non-operating interest in the pipeline pursuant to a separate assignment and participation agreement with Weststar.⁷ (R. 804, 822, 901: 35.) Thus, the current owners of the pipeline include Mr. Collins, Mr. Ware, Houston Exploration and Weststar. (R. 362-65, 423-453, 804, 901: 35.)

dated January 7, 1991, (iii) Bonanza's Form 299 Application for Transportation and Utility Systems and Facilities on Federal Lands Right of Way Request, dated November 5, 1990, (iv) Bonanza's Certificate of Incorporation from the State of Texas and Articles of Incorporation listing William C. Gilmore as Bonanza's initial Director, dated December 21, 1990, and (v) BLM Decision of March 13, 2006 re "Assignments of Rights of Way Approved." (R. 547-98.)

⁵ Oddly, Newfield accepts Mr. Gilmore's testimony as evidence that other entities have ownership interests in the pipeline, but entirely discounts Mr. Gilmore's testimony that Weststar has an interest. (R. 338, 901: 11-12, 17.)

⁶ Neither Mr. Collins nor Mr. Ware is an indispensable party under Rule 19(b), despite Newfield's attempt to persuade the trial court otherwise. See Utah R. Civ. P. 19(b); Landes v. Capital City Bank, 795 P.2d 1127, 1132 (Utah 1990) ("Only if a party is found necessary under the rule 19(a) analysis and the party cannot feasibly be joined does a court need to analyze indispensability under rule 19(b)."). Regardless, Weststar has authority to maintain this lawsuit as the operator of the pipeline. (R. 427, 429.)

⁷ While these documents appear in the record in the motion to reconsider phase, it is clear from the transcript of the hearing and from the questioning at the deposition, that the court and all parties had access to both documents prior to the court's summary judgment decision. (R. 332-33, 819-22, 901: 53, 56.) All parties agreed that they could be entered into evidence and considered by the district court, and the court received the evidence. (R. 901: 53, 56.) Moreover, at Mr. Gilmore's deposition, Cochrane's counsel asked "and Houston Exploration has 50 percent under the document that we have seen?" Mr. Gilmore responded "yes."

While Newfield accepts Mr. Gilmore's testimony that Mr. Collins, Mr. Ware, and Houston Exploration have ownership interests in the pipeline, it rejects the same testimony that Bonanza transferred its interest in the pipeline to Mr. Gilmore who in turn transferred the interest to Weststar. Despite Newfield's bald denial, the undisputed evidence establishes that Weststar owns a 1/3 interest in the pipeline. (R. 901: 24.) Newfield presented no evidence that any person or entity other than Weststar owns the remaining 1/3 interest in the pipeline. Moreover, the participation agreement between Weststar and Houston Exploration identifies Weststar as the operator of the pipeline, which recognizes in Weststar a possessory interest in the pipeline.

B. Newfield's Unauthorized Use of the Pipeline

In 1999, unbeknownst to Weststar or its predecessors in interest, the pipeline was reconstructed to permit natural gas in a pipeline owned by QEP to connect with a well owned by Cochrane, P&M (previously Newfield), and QEP. (R. 370-71.) Between May 1999 and June 2005, the pipeline carried natural gas to the well, which was used to fuel the well. (R. 369, 370-71.) Ironically, Weststar's intended use of the pipeline was to transport natural gas produced in wells owned by Mr. Gilmore and/or Gilmore Oil & Gas, Inc. to sell to other wells as operating fuel. (R. 370.) Weststar did not discover the unauthorized reconstruction and use until August 2004, because the Gilmore wells had not been in use in the preceding years. (R. 369-70.) After discovering the reconstruction, Weststar was required to construct a separate pipeline to transport gas from the Gilmore wells. (R. 369-70.) Newfield presented no evidence that any defendant had a right, or even sought permission, to transport gas through the pipeline. (R. 901: 55.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The grounds for reversal are very simple. First, Utah law requires only a possessory interest to maintain trespass and unjust enrichment claims. Therefore, the district court erred when it dismissed Weststar's claims because Weststar had not proven an "ownership interest" in the pipeline.

Second, even if an ownership interest were required, affidavit and documentary evidence create (at the very least) a question of fact concerning whether Weststar has an ownership interest in the pipeline and, in fact, conclusively establish that Weststar has such an ownership interest. Weststar provided Mr. Gilmore's affidavit stating that Weststar has an ownership interest in the pipeline and supported the affidavit testimony with (i) a copy of the recorded assignment of the pipeline to Weststar and (ii) a participation agreement between Weststar and Houston Exploration concerning the pipeline. In response, Newfield provided no evidence to dispute any of the evidence provided by Weststar. At the very least, there exists a question of fact concerning Weststar's ownership of the pipeline, and therefore summary judgment was inappropriate.

For both reasons, the Court should reverse and remand so the district court can adjudicate of the merits of Weststar's claims.

ARGUMENT

The district court applied the incorrect standard of “ownership” to determine whether Weststar has standing to maintain its claims for trespass and unjust enrichment. Under Utah law, only a possessory interest is required to maintain an action for either claim. Even if an ownership interest were required, however, Weststar provided ample evidence of Weststar’s ownership interest to create a disputed issue of fact for trial. Therefore, the district court erred when it dismissed Weststar’s claims “on the grounds that [Weststar] has produced to the court no evidence of ownership of the pipeline in question.” (R. 539.5.) The Court should reverse.

I. A Possessory Interest is Sufficient to Confer Standing to Maintain Trespass and Unjust Enrichment Claims

First, the district court erred by requiring Weststar to prove ownership instead of a mere possessory interest. Under Utah law, trespass requires the infringement of a right to possession, not the right to ownership. Walker Drug Co., Inc. v. La Sal Oil Co., 972 P.2d 1238, 1243 (Utah 1998). “Trespass is a possessory action. The gist of an action for trespass is infringement on the right of possession.” John Price Assoc., Inc. v. Utah State Conf., Bricklayers Locals Nos. 1, 2, & 6, 615 P.2d 1210, 1214 (Utah 1980). Ownership, therefore, is not required to maintain an action for trespass. In its ruling, the district court stated, “An individual cannot maintain suit against someone for trespass when that individual cannot establish ownership of the property in question. Proof of ownership is a prerequisite.” (R. 535.) This is an incorrect statement of the law.

Similarly, unjust enrichment requires only that (i) “there must be a benefit conferred on one person by another;” (ii) “the conferee must appreciate or have

knowledge of the benefit,” and (iii) “there must be the acceptance or retention by the conferee of the benefit under such circumstances as to make it inequitable for the conferee to retain the benefit without payment of its value.” Desert Miriah, Inc. v. B&L Auto, Inc., 2003 UT 83, ¶13, 12 P.3d 580 (internal quotations omitted). “Unjust enrichment of a person occurs when he has and retains money or benefits which in justice and equity belong to another.” American Towers Owners Assoc., Inc. v. CCI Mechanical, Inc., 930 P.2d 1182, 1192 (Utah 1996) (internal quotations omitted). An ownership interest also is not required to maintain a claim for unjust enrichment. One with a mere possessory interest in a pipeline has standing to maintain unjust enrichment claims when other parties use the pipeline for their benefit without consent.

Wholly apart from ownership (which Weststar also established), Weststar presented evidence of its possessory interest in the pipeline. For example, a participation agreement between Weststar and Houston Exploration appoints Weststar as the operator of the pipeline. (R. 332-33; 901: 16, 53, 56; 785, 804.) An operator of a pipeline has a possessory interest in the pipeline. See New American Oil & Mining Co. v. Troyer, 76 N.E. 253, 254 (Ind. 1905) (“[T]he purpose of the parties is the exploration for oil and gas. The landowner intends to part with, and the operator intends to acquire, no other right than the exclusive privilege of entering upon the land, and with as little injury as possible to the possession, or the freehold, and for mutual profit in the discovery, put down wells and mine and market the product, whatever it may be.”) (R. 448, 782). This agreement was in evidence at the summary judgment hearing. Thus, the district court erred in entering summary judgment because, at the very least, Weststar presented undisputed evidence that it has a possessory interest in the pipeline as its operator.

II. Weststar Presented Sufficient Evidence of Its Ownership Interest to Preclude Summary Judgment

Not only did Weststar present evidence of its possessory interest in the pipeline, but it also provided (undisputed) testimony and documentary evidence that Weststar has an ownership interest in the pipeline. In particular, Mr. Gilmore's affidavit, with supporting documentary evidence, establishes Weststar's ownership interest in the pipeline. Weststar's ownership interest is also confirmed by none other than the Department of the Interior Bureau of Land Management, which considers Weststar the owner of the pipeline. (R. 628.)

The evidence provided by Weststar demonstrates that it has an ownership interest in the pipeline. Mr. Gilmore's affidavit states that he was the sole owner of a company called "Bonanza Gas Company," the entity that built the pipeline. (R. 371.) The affidavit describes the location of the pipeline and easement at issue in this case. (R. 371.) The affidavit then states that Bonanza assigned its interest in the pipeline to Mr. Gilmore and that Mr. Gilmore later assigned the same interest to Weststar.⁸ (R. 371-72.) In addition to Mr. Gilmore's undisputed testimony, Weststar provided to the district court a copy of the recorded assignment from Mr. Gilmore to Weststar. (R. 362-66, 372.)

It is difficult to understand what would constitute more straightforward evidence of Weststar's ownership of the pipeline than the recorded assignment by which Weststar obtained ownership, something confirmed by the BLM. At the very least, this assignment creates a genuine issue of material fact about Weststar's ownership of the pipeline. Instead of disputing this, Newfield asserts that Bonanza never assigned its interest to Mr. Gilmore. However, even if Bonanza had not assigned this interest, the

⁸ Mr. Gilmore had provided similar testimony in his deposition. (R. 223-228, 814.)

interest in the pipeline would have reverted to Mr. Gilmore, as the sole owner of Bonanza, by operation of Texas law when Bonanza was dissolved in 1998. Courseview, Inc. v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 312 S.W.2d 197, 203 (Tex. 1957) (under Texas law, when a Texas corporation is dissolved, all of its assets revert to the shareholders); see also Humble Oil & Refining Co. v. Blankenburg, 235 S.W.2d 891, 893 (Tex. 1951) (“When a corporation is dissolved its property becomes the property of its stockholders in proportion to their respective shares.”). Confirming Mr. Gilmore’s ownership prior to his transfer to Weststar is the fact that the BLM considers Weststar to be the owner of the pipeline, an ownership interest it could have obtained only via transfer from Mr. Gilmore.

Mr. Gilmore’s deposition testimony accounts for all other interests held in the pipeline. According to Mr. Gilmore’s testimony, Mr. Collins and Mr. Ware each hold an 8.33 percent interest in the pipeline pursuant to a 1988 operating agreement with Gilmore Oil & Gas, Bonanza’s parent company. (R. 333.) Mr. Gilmore also testified (and presented documentary evidence in the form of an assignment and participation agreement) that Houston Exploration owns a fifty percent interest in the pipeline, an interest it only could have obtained from Weststar.⁹ (R. 332-33, 804, 822, 901: 35.) This leaves Weststar with at least a 1/3 ownership interest in the pipeline, enough to confer standing to maintaining trespass and unjust enrichment claims.

In contrast, Newfield has provided no evidence to dispute any of this. Instead, Newfield characterizes the evidence presented as conclusory and suggests that documentary evidence was required to support Mr. Gilmore’s testimony. (R. 901: 6.)

⁹ Mr. Gilmore’s deposition testimony was before the court on summary judgment because Newfield cited to it and attached portions of it to their memoranda. (R. 203-229, 329-335, 477-482.)

Documentary evidence did in fact support Mr. Gilmore's affidavit and deposition testimony—the recorded assignment of the pipeline to Weststar and the participation agreement between Weststar and Houston Exploration—and this evidence combined with Mr. Gilmore's undisputed testimony is adequate to create a disputed material fact. (R. 362-65, 721-804.)

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