2007

Weststar Exploration Company, Inc. v. Cochrane Resources, INC. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Weststar had numerous requests and opportunities to provide proof of the ownership of the pipeline as alleged in the complaint. All evidence and the documents it provided show the pipeline was owned by Bonanza Gas Company, Inc. Weststar's president claimed that he had documentary proof (an unrecorded assignment) and repeatedly promised to supply it. He failed to do so and then, at oral argument, claimed a right to the pipeline under a 1988 operating agreement and the Houston Exploration financing documents. Now, on appeal, Plaintiff's position has changed again, claiming either that Mr. Gilmore acquired the pipeline by operation of law, alleging that Bonanza was dissolved, or that Plaintiff has a possessory right under the terms of the agreements with Houston Exploration.⁴ Those theories were never raised before the trial

4

Plaintiff, in its brief, also improperly attempts to include parts of the deposition transcript that were not before the trial

court on the motion for summary judgment and never ruled on by the court below.

Regardless of the shifting of Plaintiff's positions, the record stands uncontradicted that Bonanza Gas owns the pipeline. There has been no admissible evidence showing any transfer of that ownership. For several years, 2002-2005, operation of that pipeline was transferred to Cochrane Resources under a court order. Not until 2006 did the BLM authorize Plaintiff to operate the line, which date was well after any claimed damages occurred.

The additional documents submitted by Weststar in its Motion to Reconsider, after the motions for summary judgment had been granted, should not be considered on appeal. However, even if they are, they establish that Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED TO CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION BY ADDING NEW DOCUMENTS AND NEW THEORIES ON APPEAL.

Weststar apparently agrees that the trial court's grant of summary judgment was correct based on the record at the time of the ruling, because Weststar is now attempting to overturn the trial court's decision by first seeking to add new documents (that were never produced in discovery but rather through an improper motion

court. See Appellant's brief at footnote 9.

to reconsider) to the record, and then by arguing that it did not have to show ownership but only a "possessory interest" in the pipeline.⁵ This theory was not pled and was not raised nor argued in connection with the motions for summary judgment in the court below.

Motions to reconsider are not recognized by the Rules of Civil Procedure and are not recognized by the courts. Gillett v. Price, 2006 UT 24, ¶1, 135 P.3d 861; Radakovich, 2006 UT App 454, ¶¶5, 13; Tschaggeny, 2007 UT 37, ¶15. The trial court has discretion on whether to consider a motion to reconsider and the trial court's ruling will only be reviewed using an abuse of discretion standard. Id. at ¶16. Issues not before the court when it rules on a motion for summary judgment are waived and may not be raised later by motions to reconsider or on appeal. Eldridge v. Farnsworth, 2007 UT App 243, ¶ 33, 166 P.3d 639; Hanover v. Fields, 568 P.2d 751, 753 (Utah 1977); Battistone v. Am. Land & Dev. Co., 607 P.2d 837, 838 (Utah 1980).

In addition, it is established law that one cannot put forth "new" evidence after entry of the judgment unless that evidence is "newly discovered" and the proponent "could not, with reasonable diligence discover it prior to oral argument." Utah R. Civ. P.

5

Right to possess generally arises from ownership of the property. Owest v. Utah Telecomm. Open Structure Agency, No. 2:05-CV-00471 (D. Utah July 18, 2006) at 12 (attached in addendum); Butler v. Pollard, 800 F.2d 223 (10th Cir. 1986).

59(a)(4); Barnard v. Sutliff, 846 P.2d 1229, 1235 (Utah 1992).

Furthermore,

when a party takes a clear position in a deposition, that is not modified on cross-examination, [the party] may not thereafter raise an issue of fact by his [or her] own affidavit which contradicts the evidence from the deposition, unless [the party] can provide an explanation of the discrepancy. A contrary rule would undermine the utility of summary judgment as a means for screening out sham issues of fact.

Webster v. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170, 1172-73 (Utah 1983); Gaboury v. Ireland Rd. Graco Brethren, Inc., 446 N.E.2d 1310 (Ind. 1983).

Weststar's complaint alleged, and its position below was, that it owned the pipeline through an unrecorded and unproduced assignment from Bonanza Gas to Mr. Gilmore, who in turn assigned ownership to Weststar Exploration Company.⁶ (R. 3). Weststar should not be allowed, for the first time on appeal, to submit records from the BLM, by attaching them to an improper motion to reconsider and then to change its position to claim that it had a possessory

6

The assignment from Gilmore to Weststar has its own set of problems. The document was apparently signed in December 2003 and then recorded in the county recorder's office on March 31, 2004. (R. 365). In an attempt to bootstrap an argument of legitimacy back to the date of the alleged injury in the complaint, the assignment states that, although dated 2003 and recorded in 2004, it is effective January 1, 2000. (R. 363-365). Thus, through this assignment, Weststar would have the Court believe that the pipeline was assigned to Weststar before Weststar was even created as a corporation. (Gilmore Dep. at 93, R. 479). The Nevada corporate records show Weststar was not incorporated until August 9, 2000. A conveyance to a nonexistent entity is a nullity. Young v. Young, 1999 UT 38, ¶22, 979 P.2d 338.

right to the pipeline as operator, under an operating agreement, rather than ownership as alleged in its complaint.

A. PLAINTIFF PROVIDED NO EVIDENCE IN OPPOSITION TO THE MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO SUPPORT ITS ALLEGATION THAT IT OWNED THE PIPELINE.

The motions for summary judgment were based on Weststar's claim that it owned the pipeline, as alleged in the complaint and as claimed by Mr. Gilmore in his deposition. Despite numerous requests by Defendants and promises by Plaintiff, Plaintiff never produced the unrecorded assignment Mr. Gilmore claimed he had in his office showing the transfer of title from Bonanza Gas. If such a document exists, Plaintiff needed only to produce the same in response to the motions for summary judgment.

When Weststar filed its Memorandum in Opposition to the Motions for Summary Judgment, it attached to Mr. Gilmore's affidavit a form Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases from Mr. Gilmore to Weststar, (R. 365), and attached to one of its memoranda a Model Form Operating Agreement, dated June 22, 1988, between Gilmore Oil and Gas as operator and W. Brett Smith, C.O. Ted Collins, Harry Phillips, Jr., Herbert E. Ware, Jr., Eddy Refining Company, Charles Parker and Lowe Petroleum Company as non operators.⁷ (R. 431). Neither Bonanza Gas nor Weststar was a party to that agreement. (R.

⁷

Gilmore in his deposition testified that Gilmore Oil and Gas operated certain wells and that Bonanza owned and operated the pipeline. (Gilmore Dep. at 11, R. 227.)

423-453). At the oral argument on the summary judgment motions, Plaintiff delivered a Participation Agreement, dated March 1, 2004, between Weststar and Houston Exploration and a Model Form Operating Agreement between Weststar and Houston Exploration. None of those documents shows any transfer of the pipeline from Bonanza Gas nor do they give to Weststar any ownership or possessory rights.

The 1988 operating agreement was dated three years prior to the construction of the pipeline, Bonanza Gas was not a party to the agreement and Mr. Gilmore testified that Gilmore Oil and Gas operated the wells and Bonanza Gas operated the pipeline. The documents involving Houston Exploration were part of the financing between Weststar and Houston Exploration but involved no transfer of ownership from Bonanza Gas.

B. THE DOCUMENTS ATTACHED TO THE MOTION TO RECONSIDER ALSO DID NOT TRANSFER ANY OF BONANZA GAS'S INTEREST, BUT RATHER SHOW THAT PLAINTIFF HAD NO RIGHT UNDER THE BLM PROCEDURES TO OPERATE THE LINE UNTIL 2006.

After the court granted summary judgment, Weststar tried to improve its argument by attaching documents to a motion titled Motion for Reconsideration. The new documents attached to that motion included BLM receipts showing Bonanza Gas and Cochrane Resources being the operators and paying the lease payments on the easement during the time period in question, (R. 601-628), the right-of-way permit issued to Bonanza Gas in 1991 for the pipeline, (R. 597-598), documents submitted by Bonanza Gas to obtain the

right-of-way, (R. 586-595), Certificate of Incorporation showing Bonanza Gas was incorporated in Texas in December 1990, (R. 584), a Decision of the BLM approving an assignment to Weststar from Bonanza Gas of the right-of-way on March 13, 2006, (R. 579), and a letter from the BLM to Plaintiff dated June 8, 2004. (R. 547).

This new evidence (NOT "newly discovered evidence") had been seen neither by the court nor by any of the defendants before the Motion for Reconsideration (and not for the lack of asking). None of the defendants had the opportunity to examine Mr. Gilmore with regard to these documents. In addition, they were not used in support of Plaintiff's opposition to Defendants' motions for summary judgment, nor were they provided, at the very least, at oral argument so that the court could consider them as part of Weststar's arguments in opposition to Defendants' motions for summary judgment. The documents should not be considered by this Court. Those documents should have been "discovered and produced" prior to the motions for summary judgment as required by the scheduling order. (R. 112).

Even if the Court considers these documents, they do not support Plaintiff's claim, and, in fact, contradict Mr. Gilmore's testimony at his deposition, that Weststar was the owner of the pipeline. The documents show that Bonanza Gas had the BLM permit for the right-of-way, that Bonanza Gas and Cochrane Resources operated the pipeline from 2001 to 2005, and that Plaintiff was

told in the June 8, 2004 letter that an assignment and subsequent approval by the BLM were required to allow Plaintiff to operate the pipeline. That approval was not given until March 2006, well after any claim for damages.⁸ (See June 2004 and March 2006 letters attached in addendum.)

C. GILMORE'S ASSERTION IN HIS AFFIDAVIT THAT BONANZA GAS ASSIGNED THE PIPELINE TO HIM IS NOT ADMISSIBLE, AND APPARENTLY ABANDONED, BASED ON THE NEW ARGUMENTS.

The only remaining claim by Plaintiff to support its position is the statement in Mr. Gilmore's affidavit that he had an unrecorded assignment of the pipeline from Bonanza Gas. Mr. Gilmore never presented the document establishing the assignment, despite numerous promises to do so. It has become apparent that no such assignment exists, as he has now changed his position on that claim and is relying on other documents that were attached to the motion to reconsider. Gilmore's affidavit statement violates Rule 1002 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. Additionally, the statement is barred by Utah law because it involves an alleged assignment of a real property interest that must be in writing to meet the statute of frauds. The statement is not admissible as evidence and should not be considered. Mountain W. Surgical Ctr. v. Hosp. Corp. of Utah, 2007 UT 92, 592 Utah Adv. Rep. 23.

⁸

The BLM Decision references an assignment from Bonanza Gas to Plaintiff but no such assignment was provided in the additional documents.

The court correctly granted the motions for summary judgment, because Weststar either could not, or declined to, provide evidence to raise a genuine issue of material fact establishing its ownership of the pipeline at the time the court ruled on the motions for summary judgment. Plaintiff's belated attempts to cure that problem evince only that any right Plaintiff had to operate, possess or use the pipeline did not begin until March 2006, when the BLM approved Plaintiff as the operator.

POINT II

THE DOCUMENTS BETWEEN HOUSTON EXPLORATION AND WESTSTAR FROM 2005 DO NOT CREATE A POSSESSORY RIGHT TO AN INTEREST IN THE PIPELINE, SINCE THE PIPELINE WAS OWNED BY BONANZA GAS, NOT WESTSTAR.

Bonanza Gas built the pipeline in question in 1991. Bonanza Gas was a Texas corporation. It apparently had seven or eight shareholders. (Gilmore Dep. at 93-94, R. 479). At the trial court, Plaintiff, through its president, claimed that the chain of title from Bonanza Gas to Weststar consisted of an unrecorded, unproduced and apparently nonexistent assignment signed by Mr. Gilmore on behalf of Bonanza Gas to Mr. Gilmore. (Gilmore Dep. at 34, 95, R. 220, 479). None of the other seven or eight shareholders in Bonanza Gas is a party to the alleged assignment to Mr. Gilmore. (Gilmore Dep. at 10-11, 13, 15, 94, 96, R. 223, 225, 227-228, 479). According to Mr. Gilmore, the date of this alleged unrecorded assignment is sometime in 2005, the same year as the filing of this lawsuit. (Gilmore Dep. at 95, R. 479). This unproduced assignment

was made after the damages are alleged (in the complaint) to have occurred.

Since that assignment does not exist or has not been supplied, Plaintiff claims that it has a right to bring this lawsuit because it has a right to possession in, rather than ownership of, the pipeline. This alleged right to possession is predicated on a belatedly produced Participation Agreement in which it purported to sell an interest in the pipeline to Houston Exploration, and an Operating Agreement between Weststar and Houston Exploration making Weststar the operator. Plaintiff makes that claim, but neither provides anything evidencing a transfer of title or possession from Bonanza Gas nor points to anything in the documents to support the claim.

Plaintiff's theory appears to be that a person can sell an interest in a pipeline which he does not own, and then enter into an agreement with the buyer giving him, the non-owner seller, the right to possess it. Indeed, these transactions were completed while the buyer's president claims that other parties owned interests in the pipeline, and those parties are not signatories to either agreement. One cannot give oneself rights one does not have by purportedly conveying such non-existent rights to another and then acquiring them back from the other. Sharp v. Riekhof, 747 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Utah 1987); Julian v. Peterson, 966 P.2d 878 (Ut. Ct.

App. 1998); Am. Vending Serv. Inc. v. Morse, 881 P.2d 917 (Ut. Ct. App. 1994).

POINT III

WESTSTAR'S NEW CLAIM THAT GILMORE RECEIVED TITLE TO THE PIPELINE BY VIRTUE OF THE DISSOLUTION OF BONANZA GAS BY OPERATION OF THE LAW IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD AND IS NOT CONSISTENT WITH THE LAW REGARDING CORPORATE DISSOLUTION.

Apparently conceding that there is no assignment from Bonanza Gas to Mr. Gilmore, Plaintiff for the first time on appeal argues that Mr. Gilmore obtained title to the pipeline by virtue of the dissolution of Bonanza Gas by operation of law, citing Texas statute and cases for the proposition that the assets of a dissolved company belong to the shareholders. Nothing in the record demonstrates that Bonanza was dissolved, nor is there information as to the number of shareholders. In addition, Weststar omits reference to the law that, when there is a dissolution of a company, creditors and taxes must be satisfied before shareholders have any right to the assets of the dissolved company.

In other words, after any dissolution, there is a liquidation of the corporate assets in which the debts are paid according to their rights and priorities. If, and only if, assets remain available after all corporate liabilities are paid, assets are then distributed to shareholders according to their rights and priorities. The distribution of assets to shareholders is evidenced by conveyances appropriate to the type of asset. Further, all

shareholders are distributed assets based on their number of shares. Gilmore apparently owned only 8.33% of the shares of Bonanza Gas. (Gilmore Dep. at 10-11, R. 227-228). Even the Texas case cited by Weststar in support of its argument is a case involving a deed conveying assets of a dissolved corporation, and demonstrates that, until the liquidation takes place and there is a distribution of assets by conveyance, it is unknown whether and which assets go to which shareholders of a dissolved corporation. Until the liquidation and the distribution by conveyance, the assets remain with record title in the corporation. Since Weststar produced no evidence explaining if and how the assets of Bonanza Gas were distributed and there was no claim before the trial court of any such liquidation, the trial court correctly ruled that neither Gilmore nor Weststar owned the pipeline.

POINT IV

WESTSTAR'S NEW POSSESSORY CLAIMS ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE LANGUAGE OF THE DOCUMENTS (i.e., PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT AND OPERATING AGREEMENT AND BLM RECORDS) ON WHICH THOSE CLAIMS ARE BASED.

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